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CITY OF TUCSON HOME-ARP RENTAL HOUSING DEVELOPMENT 
APPLICANT QUESTIONS AND RESPONSES 

 
Applicants are strongly encouraged to review the Applicant Questions and Responses posted 
weekly during the competition period.  Responses may clarify or alter requirements outlined in 

the Request for Proposals and are posted as an amendment to the HOME-ARP Rental Housing 
Development Request for Proposals 

 
QUESTIONS RECEIVED WEEK OF FEBRUARY 7, 2022 
 
Question 1: Will Davis-Bacon apply to this funding? 
 
Response: HUD has not waived Davis Bacon Labor Standard Provisions for HOME-ARP.  As in 
the traditional HOME Program, Davis-Bacon Labor Standards will apply to all projects which 
include 12 or more HOME-ARP assisted units.  
 
Question 2: Is there a failsafe to prevent zero rent payments for landlords funded under 
this initiative?  
 
Response: The rental restrictions for qualifying populations were established by HUD in the 
HOME-ARP Notice.  We certainly recognize the risk posed by these requirements.  While there 
is not a guaranteed fail safe to prevent zero rent payments, there are multiple mitigation options 
available under the RFP which include:  
 

• Requested funds can include operating funds and/or funds committed toward an 
operating reserve to offset lost rental revenue. 
 

• The City of Tucson may, at its sole discretion, award Project Based Vouchers to 
developments selected through this competition at a later date for the purpose of 
preventing lost rental revenue on a portion or all of the units reserved for qualifying 
populations. 

 

• Developers are encouraged to coordinate outreach to existing supportive housing 
programs funded to provide rapid rehousing and/or permanent supportive housing for 
persons experiencing homelessness as such programs are able to pay HUD fair market 
rents for participants enrolled in their programs who also meet HOME-ARP qualifying 
population requirements. 

 
Question 3: Is the 30% of units for low-income families a subset of the 70% or an 
allocation of the remaining units totaling 100%? 
 
Response: The subsets of units apply only to those units assisted with HOME-ARP funds 
(which may not be all units in a development project).  Of the total number of units in the 
development project assisted with HOME-ARP funds, a minimum of 70% must be reserved for 
qualifying populations. The remaining 30% of HOME-ARP assisted units may be dedicated for 
low-income families. Unassisted units may be reserved for low-income families, other 
populations, or market rate. 
 
Question 4: Is the total number of HOME-ARP assisted units determined by the 
traditional HOME method (amount of HOME funds divided into Total Development Cost)? 
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Response:  The total number of HOME-ARP assisted units should be calculated using the same 
“fair share” test methodology used with regular HOME funds. This is calculated through a two-
step formula. 
 
Step 1: Calculate percentage of total development budget funded through HOME-ARP.  This is 
calculated by dividing the amount of HOME-ARP funds requested into the total development 
budget.   
 
Step 2: Calculate number of total units to be considered HOME-ARP units: The resulting figure 
from step 1 must be applied as a percentage to the total number of units in the development 
project to determine the number HOME-ARP assisted units.  
 
For example, if a 100-unit project with a total development budget of $5,000,000 requests 
$500,000 in HOME-ARP funds, the formula would be applied as follows: 
 

Step 1: Calculate Percentage of Total Development Budget Funded Through HOME-
ARP: $500,000 divided by $5,000,0000 = .1 (10%) 
 
Step 2: Calculate Number of Total Units to be Considered HOME-ARP Units: 100 total 
units x 10% = 10 HOME-ARP Units. 

 
Question 5: Does the qualifying population requirement apply only to HOME-ARP 
assisted units?  
 
Response: At least 70% of units assisted with HOME-ARP funds must be designated for 
qualifying populations as defined in the Request for Proposals. The remaining HOME-ARP 
assisted units (equal to or less than 30%) may be designated for low-income households.  Units 
which are not assisted with HOME-ARP funds are not subject to the terms of HOME-ARP.  
 
Question 6: Will the loan terms provide for payment deferral as has been done in in the 
past for HOME funding during the initial 15 years? Or are payments hard/soft?  
 
Response: The standard loan terms will be 2% interest, fully amortized; however, applicants 
may request alternative terms at the time of application (e.g. deferral, etc.), the applicant must 
include an attachment which describes the alternative terms requested and the reason such 
terms are needed to achieve project success. 
 
Question 7: How is the City defining Project Manager vs. Project Coordinator in Section 
13 of the project application or is that up to the applicant? 
 
Response: The City has not established standard definitions for these terms. As a general rule, 
the City would encourage identifying individuals responsible for the overall project oversight as 
Project Managers and individuals involved specifically in the HOME-ARP assisted units or as 
secondary support to a Project Manager as Project Coordinators. If the applicant defines these 
roles in other ways, the applicant should use its own definition. 
 
Question 8: Can you explain the requirement that projects must “begin within 12 months 
of award”? For LIHTC projects, ADOH won’t make awards until June 2022 and 
construction might not begin until Spring 2023. If construction must begin within 12 
months of notice of selection, this may be problematic for LIHTC applicant projects. 
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Response:  The HOME-ARP Notice requires that the following conditions are met before a 
project can be formally committed HOME-ARP funds: 
 

• All necessary financing has been secured 

• Final budget and schedule are in place 

• Construction will begin within 12 months 
 
Organizations which include current LIHTC applications as part of the project financing or who 
otherwise do not meet the criteria defined above and are selected for HOME-ARP funds will be 
provided a preliminary award notification contingent upon obtaining the  
 
Question 9: Since a market study may not be complete in time for the application, can a 
preliminary award be made contingent on getting the full market study?  
 
Response: The City of Tucson is waiving the market demand analysis requirement for units 
assisted with HOME-ARP funds which are designated for qualifying populations as permitted by 
the HOME-ARP Notice.  Applicants must provide the market demand analysis or abbreviated 
market demand analysis for HOME-ARP units designated for low-income households and units 
not assisted with HOME-ARP funds as described in Section 12.5 of the HOME-ARP Rental 
Housing Development Application at the time of application.  
 
Question 10: Will the City be issuing an RFP for traditional HOME funds this year?  
 
Response: The City does not currently anticipate issuing a funding competition for HOME funds 
prior to June 30, 2022. As stated in Section 4 of the Request for Proposals, the City will retain 
proposals received under the HOME-ARP competition and, if such resources become available 
may, at its sole discretion, award funds or subsidies to such projects through later HOME-ARP 
disbursements and/or other sources including the HOME Investment Partnership (CFDA 
#14.239), Community Development Block Grant (CFDA #14.218), ARP State and Local Fiscal 
Recovery Fund (CFDA #21.027), Housing Choice Voucher (CFDA #14.871), and/or other 
sources at a later date without further competition. 
 
Question 11: Will the City be issuing an RFP for Project Based Vouchers this year?  
 
Response: The City does not currently anticipate issuing a funding competition for Project 
Based Vouchers prior to June 30, 2022.  As stated in Section 4 of the Request for Proposals, 
the City will retain proposals received under the HOME-ARP competition and, if such resources 
become available may, at its sole discretion, award funds or subsidies to such projects through 
later HOME-ARP disbursements and/or other sources including the HOME Investment 
Partnership (CFDA #14.239), Community Development Block Grant (CFDA #14.218), ARP 
State and Local Fiscal Recovery Fund (CFDA #21.027), Housing Choice Voucher (CFDA 
#14.871), and/or other sources at a later date without further competition.  
 
Question 12: Is an environmental review required for the application?  
 
Response: Applicants are required to provide information related to environmental issues as 
indicated in Section 3, Section 12.1, and Section 12.10 of the HOME-ARP Rental Housing 
Development Project Application; however, neither the RFP nor Application require a HUD 
environmental review to be conducted prior to application submission. Projects selected through 
this competition will be required to obtain a HUD environmental review prior to beginning the 
project.  
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Question 12: Do Davis-Bacon requirements apply to HOME-ARP? 
 
Response: See response to Question 1. 
 
Question 13: What is the timeline for receiving a completed environmental review upon 
request to the City? 
 
Response: The timeline for completion of an environmental review depends on multiple factors 
including the number and size of units, development size, and number of units. For information 
regarding the timeframe for a specific project, please email jason.thorpe@tucsonaz.gov. 
Specific project details will be treated as confidential and not added to the FAQ document. 
 
Question 14: Will projects that are not pursuing LIHTC funding be considered equally for 
this funding competition?  
 
Response: The HOME-ARP funding competition is in no way contingent upon an applicant also 
applying for LIHTC funding.  The evaluation criteria upon which all projects will be evaluated is 
published in Section 19 of the HOME-ARP Request for Proposals.   
 
HOME-ARP rules require that projects have full financing secured prior to executing a formal 
commitment of HOME-ARP funds. If an organization is also applying for LIHTC funding to meet 
its project financing needs, the preliminary award of HOME-ARP funds will be contingent on 
successful receipt of LIHTC funding.   
 
Question 15: Does the City have a specific or target number of handicap accessible units 
to be included in proposed projects? 
 
Response: All Federally assisted new construction housing developments with 5 or more units 
must design and construct 5 percent of the dwelling units, or at least one unit, whichever is 
greater, to be accessible for persons with mobility disabilities. These units must be constructed 
in accordance with the Uniform Federal Accessibility Standards (UFAS) or a standard that is 
equivalent or stricter. An additional 2 percent of the dwelling units, or at least one unit, 
whichever is greater, must be accessible for persons with hearing or visual disabilities. For more 
information on the accessibility requirements for Federally assisted new construction and 
substantial alterations of existing Federally assisted housing, see Section 504: Disability Rights 
in HUD Programs. 
 
Question 16: What is meant by ‘floating’ and ‘fixed’ units in Section 4 of the application? 
 
Response:  Applicants may, on a project by project basis, choose to use either a “fixed” or 
“floating” HOME-ARP assisted designation for rental units. 
 
A fixed designation means that the applicant determines from the outset which units are 
“HOME-ARP assisted” units.  For instance, in a 10-unit rental project, if the applicant designates 
units A, B, C, D and E as the HOME-ARP assisted units, these specific units (A through E) 
remain the HOME-ARP assisted units throughout the period of affordability. 
 
A floating designation provides the applicant the flexibility to maintain a certain number of 
HOME-ARP assisted units throughout the affordability period, although the specific unit(s) so 
designated may vary with availability.  In the previous example, the applicant would designate 

mailto:jason.thorpe@tucsonaz.gov
https://www.access-board.gov/aba/ufas.html
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/disability_main
https://www.hud.gov/program_offices/fair_housing_equal_opp/disability_main
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five units as “HOME-ARP assisted” units, and at any given point in time throughout the period of 
affordability, five units must have the HOME-ARP assisted designation, and be occupied by 
HOME-ARP eligible households.  The substituted units must be at least comparable in terms of 
size, features, and number of bedrooms to the originally designated units.   
 
A system of floating units is desirable when applicants want to ensure that assisted units are 
indistinguishable from and interchangeable with market-rate units.  In addition, the system of 
floating units provides consistency with the system required in projects developed with Low 
Income Housing Tax Credits. 
 
Question 17: ‘Refrigerator’ is identified as a utility in Section 4 of the application. What is 
meant by this? 
 
Response:  For the appliances listed in Question 17 (range, refrigerator, etc.), applicants should 
confirm that these appliances are provided by the project unless the tenant will be required to 
obtain these appliances independently upon move-in.  
 
Question 18: Will the City charge loan fees for HOME-ARP loans provided through this 
competition? 
 
Response: The City does not intend to charge loan fees other than the 2% interest rate defined in 
Section 2 of the HOME-ARP Rental Housing Development Application. 
 
Question 19: I’m unable to enter information into the ‘specify’ field in Section 10 of the 
project application. 
 
Response: If an applicant is unable to edit any section of the application or needs to provide 
additional information than space allows, the applicant should include an attachment that 
references the appropriate application section and provide the necessary information.  
 
Question 20: Am I reading it correctly that HOME-ARP assisted units would NOT be 
occupied under circumstances that would provide no income to a landlord?  
 
Unit rent for HOME-ARP assisted units designated for Qualifying Populations, which may not be 
less than 70% of HOME-ARP assisted units, may not exceed 30 percent of the adjusted income 
of a household whose annual income is  
 
HOME-ARP rent may not exceed 30 percent of the adjusted income of a household whose 
annual income is equal to or less than 50 percent of the median income for the area, as 
determined by HUD.  This may result in tenant households which have no or minimal rental 
payment. HOME-ARP includes additional flexibilities not available in the regular HOME program 
to mitigate this risk.  Please see response to Question 2 for additional information.  
 
Question 21: The HOME-ARP RFP prohibits the application of income qualifications on 
units designated for HOME-ARP Qualifying Populations.  If a unit is assisted with both 
HOME-ARP and LIHTC funds, can subsidy layering be conducted in the same fashion as 
the HOME Program requiring that households in those units meet the eligibility 
requirements of both HOME-ARP qualifying populations and LIHTC income 
requirements? 
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Response: Yes, applicants are encouraged to take advantage of subsidy layering as needed. In 
the case of units which are funded through both HOME-ARP and LIHTC, tenants would need to 
meet the requirements of both programs (i.e. come from a Qualifying Population and also have 
incomes that do not exceed those permitted by LIHTC).  
 
 
QUESTIONS RECEIVED WEEK OF FEBRUARY 14, 2022 
 
Question 22: How many of the individuals in qualifying populations currently seeking 
housing and holding vouchers are 55+? 
 
Response: This information is not readily available from the Coordinated Entry system.  As 
described in the response to Question 9, a market analysis is not required for units reserved for 
qualifying populations.  
 
Question 23: In reference to Section 3.3 of the application, Promote Housing in Key 
Revitalization Areas in the Housing Affordability Strategy for Tucson, can the City 
provide specific boundaries for included investment districts.  
 
Response: If an applicant is unable to determine whether a proposed project site is within an 
investment district identified on the map provided in the Housing Affordability Strategy for 
Tucson, the applicant should email jason.thorpe@tucsonaz.gov with the address of the 
proposed project and the City staff will confirm the site’s inclusion or proximity to an investment 
district.  
 
Question 24: Has the City established a minimum or preferred number of units that 
should be reserved for Permanent Supportive Housing?  
Response: The City has not established a minimum number of units that must be reserved for 
Permanent Supportive Housing. As described in the Evaluation Criteria in the Request for 
Proposals, projects in which at least 30% of HOME-ARP assisted units are reserved for 
permanent supportive housing will receive bonus points.  
 
Question 25: In reference to HOME-ARP units, are there points for the number of units?  
 
Response: There are not specific point values assigned to the number of units.  As described in 
the Request for Proposals, a minimum of 70% of HOME-ARP assisted units must be reserved 
for HOME-ARP qualifying populations.  
 
 
QUESTIONS RECEIVED WEEK OF FEBRUARY 21, 2022 
 
Question 26: In Section 11, the instructions state, “Calculate net operating income by 
subtracting Total Operating Expenses reported in Section 10 from Total Annual Income 
reported in Section 7”; however, Total Annual Income is reported in Section 8.  Is this an 
error? 
 
Response: The instructions in Section 11 do contain a typographical error. Applicants should 
calculate net operating income by subtracting total operating expenses reported in Section 10 
from Total Annual Income reported in Section 8.   
 

mailto:jason.thorpe@tucsonaz.gov
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Question 27: Section 11 requires applicants to identify the Debt Ratio for the project.  
How is this calculated?  
 
Response: The Debt Ratio required in Section 11 of the HOME-ARP Rental Housing 
Development Application should be calculated by dividing the total amount of debt associated 
with the project (current and requested/forecasted) by the total development cost.   
 
For example, if a proposed project has a total development cost of $14 million the planned 
project income includes $12 million dollars in overall project financing from all sources, the 
project’s debt ratio would be .86 (calculated as $12,000,000 divided by $14,000,000).   
 
Question 28: How should applicants calculate “total debt” in the last column of the table 
in Section 11? 
 
Response: The total debt column in Section 11 should be calculated for each loan as the total 
amount of principal plus interest to be paid over the lifetime of the loan based on the loan term.   
 
Question 29: Is it acceptable to attach a separate Excel spreadsheet in place of 
completing Section 7 of the project application?  
 
Response: Applicants may attach an Excel spreadsheet in addition to completing the mandatory 
form provided in Section 7; however, the application document must be completed in full. A 
separate Excel spreadsheet will not be accepted as a replacement for completing the tables 
provided in Section 7 or other sections of the application document.  
 
Question 30: If the application file is too large to be sent by email, may an applicant 
submit a Dropbox link with the application files?  
 
Response: A Dropbox link is acceptable.  Applicants must be sure to send the Dropbox link with 
all files saved prior to the deadline.  If any files show modifications after the posted deadline, 
those files will be removed from the application before scoring.   
 
Question 31: The application makes several references to TEP’s Energy Guarantee 
Standard.  My understanding is that this is no longer available, and the TEP website 
doesn’t make any reference to it (at least not that I can find).  TEP offers a Multi-Family 
Housing Program, but that doesn't seem to be the same program.   Can you clarify this, 
please? 
 
Response: The City concurs that publicly available information regarding the TEP Energy 
Guarantee Standard is no longer posted on the Tucson Electric Power website.  Applicants are 
advised to select “no” to the question regarding the TEP Energy Guarantee Standard in Section 
4 of the application.  Applicants should still describe appropriate certifications or standards 
related to energy efficiency and green building techniques in response to the question contained 
in Section 12.1 of the application.  Applicants will not be scored based on their response to the 
TEP Energy Guarantee Standard in Section 4; however, applicants will still be scored on green 
building techniques and strategies in Section 12.1.   
 
Question 32: If a project includes variable rental rates for units of the same bedroom size 
based on income/revenue source, how should the applicant indicate this in the table 
labeled Projected Operating Budget for Rental Projects in Section 8 of the Application?  
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Response: Applicants are advised to use a weighted average to calculate the amounts entered 
in the column titled Monthly Rent (Unassisted) is the applicant anticipates multiple rental rates 
for units of the same bedroom size.  In addition, applicants are encouraged to attach a separate 
Excel file as an attachment that differentiates rates (e.g. 1 br @ 40% AMI, 1 br @ 50% AMI, 
etc.) 
 
 
 
 
 


